I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners are Lance Harvey and his wife (the "Harveys"). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4), this Court should review the 

unpublished decision by Division I of the Court of Appeals filed on 

February 18, 2014 in Washington Federal v. Harvey, 2014 WL 646746, 

Case No. 69791-9-I (the "Harvey" decision), which was based upon 

Division I's published decision in Washington Federal v. Gentry,_ Wn. 

App. _, _ P.3d _, Case No. 70004-9-I, filed on the same date (the 

"Gentry decision"). Copies of the Gentry and Harvey decisions are 

attached hereto as Appendices A and B, respectively. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Review by the Supreme Court is required m order to 

resolve a direct conflict between decisions of Divisions I and II of the 

Court of Appeals on two issues: 

(a) whether the Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24.100, 

prohibits a secured lender from seeking a deficiency judgment against a 

guarantor, where the lender elected to non-judicially foreclose a deed of 

trust securing the guarantor's obligations, and 

(b) whether a deed of trust secures guarantor obligations 

(not just borrower/grantor obligations), where it is "given to secure" 

{21356/U070052.DOCX} 

1 



.I 

obligations under the "Related Documents" in addition to the obligations 

under the Note, and defines "Related Documents" to include obligations 

under "all guaranties ... executed in connection with the Indebtedness." 

In First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Cornerstone Homes & 

Development LLC, 178 Wn. App. 207, 314 P.3d 420 (2013) ("First

Citizens"), Court of Appeals Division II answered "yes" to both questions 

based upon a "plain language" analysis. A copy of the decision is attached 

as Appendix C. The same statute and deed of trust language is at issue in 

this case. However, in its Harvey and Gentry decisions, Division I of the 

Court of Appeals declined to follow the First-Citizens opinion, and instead 

reached directly opposite determinations on those two issues. Review by 

this Court is necessary to resolve the conflict and correct Division I' s 

misinterpretation and misapplication of the plain language of the deeds of 

trust and non-judicial foreclosure statute. 

2. Review is also sought with respect to a related issue which 

was not argued to Division II in First-Citizens, and which was briefed and 

argued but not decided by Division I in its Harvey and Gentry decisions: 

Can a secured lender contractually avoid the anti-deficiency protections of 

the Deed of Trust Act through boilerplate waiver provisions in its guaranty 

form, or is such action void as against public policy? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

This action arises out of a $2.56 million real estate loan made in 

July 2007 by Horizon Bank to Kaydee Gardens 9, LLC ("Kaydee 

Gardens"), an entity then owned by Lance Harvey and Mark Tapert. The 

loan was secured by a deed of trust (the "Deed of Trust") against property 

owned by Kaydee Gardens, and was guaranteed by Harvey and Tapert. 1 

After Mr. Tapert withdrew as co-owner of the LLC, Horizon Bank 

re-documented the loan in November 2008, with only Mr. Harvey as 

Guarantor. The $2.56 million loan continued to be secured by the July 

2007 Deed of Trust, but Horizon Bank prepared a new Note, Guaranty and 

other loan documents2 for execution by Kaydee Gardens and Mr. Harvey. 

The Kaydee Gardens Deed of Trust provided that it was "given to 

secure (a) payment of the Indebtedness and (b) performance of any and all 

obligations under the Note, the Related Documents, and this Deed of 

Trust."3 To eliminate any ambiguity, the Deeds of Trust contained 

specific definitions of the terms "Indebtedness" and "Related Documents": 

The word "Indebtedness" means all principal, interest, and 

1 A copy of the Deed of Trust is attached to the Declaration of Lance Harvey, CP 553-
566. For ease of reference, a copy was also included in Appendix C attached to the Brief 
of Respondents Harvey filed with the Court of Appeals below. 
2 Copies of those documents appear at CP 535-36 and 553-99. They were also included 
in Appendix C to Brief of Respondents Harvey filed with the Court of Appeals 
3 That language was presented in block lettering and bold face. CP 556. 
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other amounts, costs and expenses payable under the Note 
or Related Documents, together with all renewals of, 
extensions of, modifications of, consolidations of and 
substitutions for the Note or Related Documents ... 4 

The words "Related Documents" mean all promissory 
notes, credit agreements, loan agreements, guaranties, 
security agreements, mortgagers, deeds of trust, security 
deeds, collateral mortgages, and all other instruments, 
agreements and documents, whether now or hereafter 
existing, executed in connection with the Indebtedness; 
provided that the environmental indemnity agreements are 
not "Related Documents" and are not secured by this Deed 
ofTrust. 5 

The Guaranty signed by Mr. Harvey was not merely executed "in 

connection" with the Indebtedness; it obligated him to satisfy the Note and 

~the Indebtedness if his LLC borrower entity failed to do so.6 Thus, 

when combined with the language declaring that the Deed of Trust was 

"given to secure ... performance of any and all obligations under ... the 

Related Documents," the plain language of the definitions confirm that the 

Deed of Trust was "given to secure . . . performance of any and all 

obligations" under the Harvey Guaranty. 

Horizon Bank was closed by state regulators in January 2010, and 

the bank's assets (including the Kaydee Gardens loan documents) were 

sold by FDIC to Washington Federal ("WaFed"). In May 2011, Kaydee 

Gardens stopped making payments following a dispute over the balance 

due. Rather than choosing to sue Kaydee Gardens for a money judgment 

4 CP 562 (emphasis added). 
5 /d. (emphasis added). 
6 CP 585 (Harvey Commercial Guaranty, page I. 
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on the Note obligation following the default, and/or suing the Harveys on 

their Guaranty, and rather than choosing to foreclose the Deed of Trust 

judicially, WaFed elected to foreclose the Kaydee Gardens Deed of Trust 

non-judicially, acquiring the Kaydee Gardens property via Trustee's Deed 

through its credit bid at the trustee's sale held on November 14,2011.1 

B. Procedural Background 

Following the trustee's sale, WaFed sued the Harveys, claiming 

that they were liable for a deficiency judgment under the Guaranty.8 The 

parties subsequently filed cross motions for summary judgment. In their 

motion, the Harveys argued that the Kaydee Gardens Deed of Trust 

secured the Guaranty, and that as a result of non-judicial foreclosure 

through the trustee's sale, RCW 61.24.100(10) prohibited WaFed from 

seeking a deficiency judgment against them.9 WaFed disputed both 

arguments, and also contended that the Harveys had waived the protection 

ofRCW 61.24.100 through boilerplate language in the Guaranty. The trial 

court granted the Harveys' motion, concluding that: (1) the Harvey 

Guaranty was secured by the Deed of Trust which WaFed had non-

judicially foreclosed; (2) RCW 61.24.1 00(1 0) bars a deficiency judgment 

against a guarantor where the guaranty obligations were secured by the 

7 CP 602-07 (Trustee's Deed). 
8 CP 943-955 at~~ 5.1 (Complaint). 
9 CP 608-619 (Harvey Cross Motion for Summary Judgment). 
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foreclosed deed trust; and (3) waiver of the anti-deficiency protections 

afforded by RCW 61.24.100 is void as against public policy. 10 

The Harvey and Gentry cases are among a large number of cases 

pending before the Washington courts, involving substantially identical 

deed of trust forms and attempts by banks to obtain deficiency judgments 

against guarantors after completing non-judicial foreclosure sales. 11 First-

Citizens was the first of those cases to reach the appellate courts. In its 

December 3, 2013 published opinion, Division II of the Court of Appeals 

made the same determinations as the Harvey trial court on issues (1) and 

(2), above. 12 It held that the bank's deficiency claims were barred by 

RCW 61.24.100(10) because the guarantors' obligations were secured by 

the deed of trust which the bank had elected to non-judicially foreclose. 

1° CP 273-277 (Original Order Granting Summary Judgment to Harveys) and CP 12-13 
(Order Denying WaFed Motion for Reconsideration). 
11 In addition to First-Citizens, Gentry and Harvey, there are at least four such cases 
currently pending before Division I: Union Bank vs. Lyons, Appeal No. 70327-7-I; 
Union Bank vs. McAbee, Appeal No. 70497-4-I; Union Bank vs. Pelzel, Appeal No. 
70869-4-I; and Union Bank vs. Deyo, Appeal No. 71168-7-1. Motions for Stay pending 
Supreme Court determination of these issues were filed with Division I on March 14, 
2014 in the Lyons and McAbee appeals. 

At least five more cases are currently pending before Division II: Union Bank vs. 
Brinkman, Appeal No. 44839-4-II; Union Bank vs. Riley, Appeal No. 44970-6-II; Union 
Bank vs. Brunaugh, Appeal No. 45010-1-II; Union Bank vs. Brunaugh, Appeal No. 
45014-3-II; and Union Bank vs. Moore, Appeal No. 45311-8-II. A motion to transfer the 
Union Bank v. Brinkman appeal to this Court for direct review is set on the Supreme 
Court Commissioner's Motion Calendar for March 27,2014, under Case No. 89964-9. 

Many similar cases are also still pending in the Washington Superior Courts, awaiting 
a final appellate determination of these issues. 
12 Although the guaranty form in First-Citizens contained the same boilerplate language 
as the Harvey Guaranty, the bank chose not to argue waiver of the protections of RCW 
61.24.1 00, making it unnecessary for Division II to decide issue (3). 
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Two months later, however, Division I of the Court of Appeals 

reached diametrically opposite conclusions in its unpublished Harvey 

opinion and published Gentry decision, holding that the Harveys' and 

Gentrys' obligations under their Guaranties were not secured by the Deeds 

of Trust, and that even if the Guaranties were so secured, RCW 

61.24.100(10) did not bar the entry of deficiency judgments against them. 

In its Harvey and Gentry decisions, Division I considered and rejected 

Division II's determinations in the First-Citizens opinion. 

Specifically, in the Gentry decision, Division I held that RCW 

61.24.100(10) does not limit the bank's ability to obtain a deficiency 

judgment, construing the subsection to be purely permissive rather than 

prohibitive. Harvey at 3-7, Gentry at 11-20. In refusing to interpret the 

Deeds of Trust as securing the Guaranties, Division I effectively held that 

the inclusion of the word "guaranties" in the definition of "Related 

Documents" was superfluous, determining instead that the obligations 

secured by the Deeds of Trust were intended to be limited to those of the 

borrower/grantor LLC's only. Harvey at 7-13; Gentry at 21-27. 

Having resolved those two issues, Division I declined to reach the 

third issue of whether the anti-deficiency protections of RCW 61.24.100 

can be modified or eliminated by contract, or whether such contractual 

provisions are void as against public policy. Harvey at 13; Gentry at 27. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4), this Court will accept review when 

a Court of Appeals decision "is in conflict with another decision of the 

Court of Appeals," and when "the petition involves an issue of substantial 

public interest." The decision by Division I in this case satisfies both 

grounds for review. The Harvey, Gentry and First-Citizens opinions are 

in direct conflict with each other on the central questions of construction 

of language defining the obligations secured by the Deeds of Trust and 

interpretation of the anti-deficiency provisions of RCW 61.24.1 00. 

In light of the many similar cases pending below, an additional 

issue of substantial public interest is presented by the question not decided 

by Divisions I or II, i.e. whether the protections of RCW 61.24.100 can be 

eliminated through the banks' use of boilerplate waiver language. 

A. Construction of the Deed of Trust by Division II in First
Citizens 

It is axiomatic that the obligations which a deed of trust secures are 

defined by the language of the deed of trust itself, so that the recorded 

instrument can provide public notice of those obligations. In Harvey, 

Gentry, First-Citizens, and in many other pending cases, the bank-drafted 

Deeds of Trust stated that they were given to secure "payment of the 

Indebtedness" and "performance of any and all obligations under the Note, 

{21356/U070052.DOCX} 

8 



.. 

the Related Documents and this Deed of Trust." In their deed of trust 

forms, the banks specifically defined those capitalized terms, confirming 

that the words "Related Documents" included "all . . . guaranties ... 

executed in connection with the Indebtedness." 

In its decision, Division II had no difficulty confirming the 

meaning of such language: 

These deeds of trust defined (1) "Indebtedness" as "all 
principal, interest, and other amounts, costs and expenses 
payable under the Note or Related Documents"; and (2) 
"Related Documents" to include any "guaranties ... 
whether now or hereafter existing, executed in connection 
with the indebtedness." A plain reading of this language 
includes the Allisons' earlier guaranty among the "now ... 
existing" "Related Documents" that these deeds of trust 
secured. 

314 P.3d at 423, ~10 (emphasis in original, footnotes omitted). It likewise 

found that the deeds of trust secured the Allisons' later guaranties: 

This plain language expressly incorporates future "Related 
Documents," which unambiguously includes future "deeds 
of trust" as well as "promissory notes" "executed in 
connection with the Indebtedness," "now or hereafter 
existing," namely Cornerstone's promissory notes and 
deeds of trust later executed to obtain this contemplated 
loan. 

Nor is there any ambiguity in Venture Bank's identical use 
of the term "the Indebtedness," in both the deeds of trust 
and the Allisons' guaranty, to refer to Cornerstone's 
construction loans from Venture bank, secured by the deeds 
of trust. Thus, we agree with the Allisons that these 
reciprocal plain terms operate together such that the deeds 
of trust expressly secure the Allisons' guaranty in addition 
to Cornerstone 's construction loan. 

Id., ~~ 11-12 (emphasis added, footnote omitted). The Deed of Trust at 
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issue in this case contains the same "plain language." 

B. Construction of the Deed of Trust by Division I in Gentry and 
Harvey 

In construing the Deeds of Trust in this case and in Gentry, 

Division I began by restating the fundamental principle that the Court is 

not to "interpret what was intended to be written but what was written," 

citing Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 

503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). Harvey at 8; Gentry at 21. However, 

Division I then failed to even discuss, much less interpret, the key 

definitions of Indebtedness and Related Documents in the Deeds of Trust, 

which determine the nature and extent of the secured obligations. Instead, 

the Court seized upon the final sentence of the "given to secure" 

paragraph, which stated that "This Deed of Trust is given and accepted on 

the following terms," and combined it with a later paragraph addressing 

payment and performance by the Gentrys' borrower/grantor LLC's. 

In its Gentry opinion, Division I concluded at page 23: 

Reading these two paragraphs together, the deeds of trust 
must be read as securing the payment and performance 
obligations of the Borrowers and Grantors. Here, 
Borrower and Grantor is the same entity for each loan 
secured by each deed of trust. There is simply no way to 
read these provisions so that any deed of trust secures the 
payment and performance obligations of anyone other than 
the Borrower and Grantor. The guarantors of the loans 
are neither. Thus, none of these deeds of trust secure the 
guaranties of the Gentrys. 

Division I reached the same conclusion in Harvey, even though the 
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Kaydee Gardens Deed of Trust contained additional language which 

should have made its intent even clearer. It did not simply state that it was 

given to secure "(a) payment of the Indebtedness and (b) performance of 

any and all obligations under the Note, the Related Documents, and this 

Deed of Trust," without limiting those to obligations of the 

borrower/grantor. It went on to provide that it was also given to secure 

"any and all of the Grantor's obligations under that certain Construction 

Loan Agreement between Grantor and Lender of even date herewith."13 

Division I's "simply no way" conclusion in Gentry and Harvey is 

plainly wrong. A contract is to be construed as a whole, giving meaning 

to all of its terms. McGary v. Westlake Investors, 99 Wn.2d 280, 285, 661 

P.2d 971 (1983). The phrase "This Deed of Trust is given and accepted on 

the following terms," relied upon by Division I in Gentry, obviously refers 

to all of the remaining paragraphs of the Deed of Trust, including all of the 

definitions. Far from being limited to payment and performance by the 

borrower/grantor LLC's, the Deeds of Trust expressly stated that they 

were given to secure "payment of the Indebtedness" and performance of 

any and all obligations under the Note, the Related Documents and this 

Deed of Trust." (emphasis added). Those Related Document obligations 

included obligations under "all ... guaranties ... executed in connection 

13 CP 556, quoted by Division I in Harvey at 9. 
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with the Indebtedness," a phrase clearly including the Harvey Guaranty. 14 

In Harvey, where the bank wanted to limit the obligations the Deed 

of Trust was "given to secure" to those of the grantor only, it knew how to 

do so, e.g., in its reference to "the Grantor's obligations under that certain 

Construction Loan Agreement." In contrast, the language as to securing 

the Related Documents included "any and all obligations." 

This Court should accept review, reverse the erroneous decision by 

Division I in Harvey (and Gentry), and confirm that the Deed of Trust at 

issue in this and other cases secured the obligations of the guarantors. 

C. RCW 61.24.100(10) 

In 1998, the Legislature amended the Deed of Trust Act to permit 

deficiency judgment in narrow circumstances. As a result of the 

amendments, the Act now provides: "Except to the extent permitted in this 

section for deeds of trust securing commercial loans, a deficiency 

judgment shall not be obtained on the obligations secured by a deed of 

trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale 

14 In its opinion in Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 120 Wn. App. 784, 
798, 86 P.3d 1194 (2004), Division I held that it lacked authority to revise the contract in 
the guise of interpreting it, where the parties had specifically defined the tenninology 
employed. The holding was affinned by this Court, which noted that Hearst had failed to 
reduce its contended interpretation to writing: "Instead, they defined the specific 
elements of calculating gains and losses once, in great detail, and embedded those tenns 
without qualification in the loss operations clause. Hearst essentially asks us to rewrite 
the JOA by revising the loss operations clause, something we are not at liberty to do." 
Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 510, 115 P.3d 262 
(2005). Yet in Gentry and Harvey, Division I ignored the lender's specific defmitions 
and effectively rewrote the deeds of trust. 
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under that deed of trust." RCW 61.24.100(1) (emphasis added). In 

addition to other limitations in the statute, RCW 61.24.1 00(1 0) provides 

that "[a] trustee's sale under a deed of trust securing a commercial loan 

does not preclude an action to collect or enforce any obligation of a 

borrower or guarantor if that obligation, or the substantial eguivalent of 

that obligation was not secured by the deed of trust." (Emphasis added). 

D. Interpretation of RCW 61.24.100(10) by Division II in First
Citizens 

After noting that RCW 61.24.1 00(1) generally bars all deficiency 

judgments against guarantors, Division II addressed subsection (1 0): 

Subsection (1 0) creates an exception to subsection ( 1 )' s 
general prohibition against deficiency judgments following 
nonjudicial foreclosure, by allowing the lender to sue a 
commercial loan guarantor if the guaranty was not secured 
by the foreclosed deed of trust. 

314 P .3d at 424 (emphasis in original). Division II then applied the 

statutory language of subsection ( 1 0) to the facts actually presented in 

First-Citizens, i.e., that the guaranty obligations were secured by the non-

judicially foreclosed deed of trusts. The Court held that: 

Under the statutory construction principle expressio unius 
est exclusio alterius, [RCW 61.24.100(10)] implies that (1) 
this express exception to the anti-deficiency judgment 
statute is the only exception under these circumstances; and 
(2) therefore, further implies that where a guaranty was 
secured by the foreclosed deed of trust (which also secured 
a commercial loan), the lending bank cannot sue the 
guarantor for any deficiency remaining after the trustee's 
sale of the secured property. 

{21356/U070052.DOCX} 

13 



·,

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