RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTO Apr 03, 2014, 11:48 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK RECEIVED BY F-MA

No. 90078-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON FEDERAL, a federally chartered savings association,

Plaintiff-Respondent

٧.

LANCE HARVEY, individually, and the marital community comprised of LANCE HARVEY and "JANE DOE" HARVEY, husband and wife,

Defendants-Petitioners

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

ANSWER TO PETITION TO REVIEW

Gregory R. Fox WSBA No. 30559 Ryan P. McBride WSBA No. 33280 Attorneys for Respondent Washington Federal

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Harvey and First Citizens Decisions Have Conflicting Interpretations Of The Same Form Deed Of Trust Document; Harvey Properly Interprets The Deed Of Trust In Context.

A threshold issue in both *Harvey* and *First Citizens* is whether the form deed of trust secured not only the borrower's obligation to repay the commercial loan, but also a non-signatory's separate guaranty of that same loan. Only if that question is answered in the affirmative does the

construction of the Deed of Trust Act and RCW 61.24.100(10) matter. The decisions reach opposite answers on this threshold question because only *Harvey* (and *Gentry*) properly considered all the provisions in the deed of trust together and as a whole, whereas *First Citizens* erroneously relied solely on the deed's boilerplate definition of "Related Documents."

In *First Citizens*, the court noted that the deeds of trust there, like those here, were "[g]iven to secure ... payment ... and ... performance of *any and all obligations* under the ... *Related Documents*, and [the] deed[s] of trust." 178 Wn. App. at 213 (emphasis in original). Because the deeds defined "Related Documents" to include the generic term "guaranties," the court summarily concluded that the deeds secured the guaranties at issue in addition to the borrower's loan. *Id.* at 213-14. Critically, *First Citizens* ignored the reference to "payment" and "performance" in the quoted provision and, worse yet, did not consider (or even mention), the separate "Payment and Performance" provision that immediately followed it.

That conspicuous oversight fatally undermines Division 2's entire analysis. The deed of trust does not say it was given to secure the "Related Documents"; it secures "payment" or "performance" of the Related Documents. CP 855. The issue is whose payment and performance? As *Harvey* recognized, the deed answers that question in the "Payment And Performance" provision, which limits the security to the obligations of the "Grantor"—not a "Guarantor." *Id. Harvey* properly held that when these provisions are read together, the "exclusive focus [was] on the payment and performance obligations of the **Grantor**," not the obligations of a guarantor. Slip Op. at 10. The fact that the Resolution permits the borrower to encumber its property to secure only its own obligations, and the borrower's promissory note, in turn, incorporates the deed of trust, while the guaranty does not, confirms that interpretation.²

This result makes sense. The "Related Documents" term is a boilerplate definition listing all conceivable "instruments, agreements and documents ... executed in connection with" a commercial loan. CP 861. If the deed of trust truly secured all such agreements without regard to who owes the obligation, then it would secure not only a third-party guaranty of a construction loan as *First Citizens* held, but potentially also a completely separate loan the lender makes to the borrower's contractor, or any number of tangentially related obligations common to complex land development projects. The "Payment and Performance" provision avoids that unintended result (and the mischief it would create for the deed of

² Harvey also correctly rejected First Citizens' suggestion that the deed of trust should be construed against Washington Federal. 178 Wn. App. at 214 n. 8. As Harvey noted, that rule does not apply because "the deed of trust in this case is not ambiguous when read as a whole." Slip Op. at 12. In any event, Washington Federal was not the "drafter" of the deed (Horizon Bank was), nor were the Harveys party to the them, and, thus, the Harveys cannot invoke the rule against Washington Federal.

trust's grantor) by expressly and specifically limiting the scope of what is secured to only those obligations owed by the "Grantor."

Further, it would serve no commercial purpose for the deed of trust to secure the borrower's loan and a guaranty of that loan. From a lender's perspective, the purpose of a guaranty is to obtain an <u>additional</u> source of payment in the event the borrower's collateral is insufficient to satisfy the debt. From the guarantor's perspective, his or her liability is reduced by the value of the collateral whether or not the guaranty is secured. *First Citizens* conceded this commercial reality, but ignored it. 178 Wn. App. at 214 n. 10. That too was error. *Wilson Court Ltd. P'ship v. Tony Maroni's, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 705, 952 P.2d 590 (1998) ("Where two commercial entities sign a commercial agreement, we will give [it] a commercially reasonable construction."). If this Court accepts review, it must affirm *Harvey* (and *Gentry*) for this reason as well.

B. The Harvey and First Citizens Decisions Have Conflicting Constructions Of The Deed Of Trust Act; Harvey Properly Held That RCW 61.24.100(10) Does Not Prohibit A Deficiency Judgment Against Guarantors In Cases Like This One.

Following *Gentry*, *Harvey* held that, even if the deed of trust secured the guaranty, the result would be the same because RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) expressly allows "an action for a deficiency judgment against a guarantor" of a commercial loan, and RCW 61.24.100(10)

cannot be construed to prohibit such an action. Slip Op. 3-7. Here too, Division 1 rejected Division 2's reasoning and conclusion in *First Citizens* on an identical issue. *Gentry* held that the plain language of section (10) is permissive, and cannot be read as a limitation on section (3)(c) without impermissibly striking or adding words to the statute and implausibly construing it to impliedly mean the inverse of what the legislature expressly provided. As *Gentry* noted, *First Citizens* made both mistakes.

When it comes to a deficiency judgment on an obligation to repay a foreclosed commercial loan, including a guaranty of the loan, section (3) exclusively governs. Section (3)(a) applies to borrowers and grantors, and it generally prohibits deficiency judgments (except for waste and wrongful retention of rent). Section (3)(c) applies to guarantors, and it generally permits deficiency judgments.³ As *Gentry* noted, the right to a deficiency judgment against guarantors under section (3)(c) is not absolute; it is "subject to" a statute of limitations, RCW 61.24.100(4), and a guarantor's right to a "fair value" hearing, RCW 61.24.100(5)—neither of which is

³ Section (6) also applies to guarantors, but only those who (unlike Harvey) grant a deed of trust on their own property. Like borrowers and grantors, the Act generally prohibits deficiency judgments against this class of grantor-guarantors except for waste and wrongful retention of rents. RCW 61.24.100(6). As explained below, this exception for grantor-guarantors further demonstrates the legislature's intent to provide anti-deficiency protection only for those who actually forgo rights by agreeing to a nonjudicial foreclosure in lieu of a judicial foreclosure.

relevant here. Critically, however, section (3)(c) does not limit a lender's right to a deficiency judgment in cases where the guaranty is, for whatever reason, deemed secured by the borrower's foreclosed deed of trust.

RCW 61.24.100(10) is not a limitation on section (3)(c), but is intended to protect lenders—not borrowers or guarantors. A borrower or guarantor can owe multiple debts to a single lender or multiple obligations in connection with a single transaction. As *Gentry* held and respected commentators have recognized, section (10) provides that foreclosure of a deed of trust securing a commercial loan does not affect a lender's right to enforce obligations <u>unrelated</u> to the obligation to repay the indebtedness on the loan. Marjorie Dick Rombauer, 27 *Wash. Practice: Creditors' Remedies—Debtors' Relief* § 3.37 (2d ed. Supp. 2012) (under section (10), parties can "carve out" obligations unrelated to the debt, such as liability for environmental contamination). Section (10) does not apply to a payment guaranty, like Harvey's, because it is not unrelated to the debt; it is part of the same obligation and, as such, a lender's right to a deficiency judgment is exclusively governed by section (3)(c).

Even beyond its permissive character, section (10)'s language confirms the legislature did not intend it to limit deficiency actions on the underlying debt. "When the legislature uses two different terms in the same statute, courts presume the legislature intends the terms to have different meanings." Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 162 Wn.2d 210, 219, 173 P.3d 885 (2007). When the legislature intended to mean an action for a "deficiency judgment" on the commercial loan, the statute uses that specific term in multiple sections. See RCW 61.24.100(3), (5), (6). For section (10), however, it uses a different and unique term: "an action to collect or enforce any obligation." The use of different language was intentional. Indeed, if section (10) is construed to impliedly limit a lender's right to seek a "deficiency judgment" on the underlying commercial loan, as *First Citizens* believed, then it would be both duplicative of and contrary to the express terms of sections (3).⁴

Finally, only *Harvey* (and *Gentry*), not *First Citizens*, fulfills the purpose of the Deed of Trust Act. The Act reflects a "quid pro quo" between lenders, on one hand, and borrowers and grantors, on the other; borrowers and grantors give up the right to redemption and a judicially imposed upset price and, in return, lenders give up the right to a deficiency judgment. *Donovick v. Seattle–First Nat'l Bank*, 111 Wn.2d 413, 416,

⁴ Indeed, the conflict would go beyond section (3)(c). For example, section (3)(a) *permits* a lender to seek a limited deficiency judgment for waste and wrongful retention of rents against a borrower. RCW 61.24.100(3)(a)(i). Section (10) also applies to "an action to collect or enforce any obligation of a borrower." If that language in section (10) means an "action for a deficiency judgment," and it impliedly prohibits such actions as *First Citizens* held, then it would *prohibit* even the limited deficiency judgment expressly permitted in sections (3)(a).

757 P.2d 1378 (1988). Guarantors are not part of the quid pro quo; unlike borrowers and grantors, they lose no rights in a nonjudicial foreclosure they would otherwise have in a judicial foreclosure. That is precisely why the Act generally prohibits a deficiency judgment against borrowers and grantors, but not guarantors. *Compare* RCW 61.24.100(3)(a) *with* (3)(c). That is also why the Act contains an exception for guarantors who (unlike Harvey) grant a deed of trust on their own land, giving them the same antideficiency protection as borrowers and grantors. RCW 61.24.100(6).

By the same token, it is *Harvey* (and *Gentry*), not *First Citizens*, that furthers a central goal of the Act: to encourage real estate financing through an "efficient and inexpensive" alternative to judicial foreclosures. *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985). Under *Harvey*, lenders can nonjudicially foreclose deeds of trust securing commercial loans confident that, if there is a deficiency, they can obtain a judgment against a guarantor. Under *First Citizens*, lenders will be forced to file lawsuits on the guaranty, or initiate judicial foreclosure actions in lieu of nonjudicial foreclosure, if there is any chance the value of the foreclosed property will be insufficient to cover the debt; otherwise, their "absolute" and "unconditional" guaranties will be worthless. That result would also subject guarantors to judgments before lenders have an opportunity to apply the value of the borrower's collateral to reduce the

guarantors' liability. *Harvey* avoids this absurd result. If this Court accepts review, it should affirm *Harvey* (and *Gentry*) on this issue too.

C. If Review Is Accepted, This Court Should Also Consider Whether Sophisticated Guarantors Of Commercial Loans Can Waive The Deed Of Trust Act's Anti-Deficiency Defenses.

Washington Federal argued below that, even if Harvey had an antideficiency defense, he knowingly waived that defense in order to induce the lender's multi-million dollar loan to his company. Nevertheless, the Harveys argued, and the trial court agreed, that the guaranty's express waiver of anti-deficiency defenses was "void as contrary to the provisions of that statute and its underlying public policy." CP 275. Because it held in Washington Federal's favor on the underlying contract and statutory interpretation issues, the Court of Appeals did not reach the waiver issue.

If this Court accepts review, it should also accept review of this issue so that, in the unlikely event the Court concludes the Harveys have an anti-deficiency defense, it can consider and uphold the enforceability of the waiver. It is important to note the limited scope of this issue. It does not involve residential or consumer loans; nor does it involve procedural or substantive unconscionability in particular cases. The only question is whether, as a matter of public policy, the Deed of Trust Act prohibits courts from enforcing an unambiguous waiver of anti-deficiency rights, knowingly and voluntarily agreed to by a guarantor of a commercial loan. If the Court reaches the issue, it should confirm the enforceability of Harvey's waiver. It is black letter law that a guarantor's suretyship and statutory defenses "may be explicitly waived in a guaranty agreement and such waiver provisions are enforceable." 38A C.J.S., *Guaranty* § 125 (2008). Washington courts have long recognized and applied this common law rule. *Fruehauf Trailer Co. of Canada Ltd. v. Chandler*, 67 Wn.2d 704, 709, 409 P.2d 651 (1966) (upholding guarantor's waiver of defense of discharge); *Seattle First Nat'l Bank v. West Coast Rubber Inc.*, 41 Wn. App. 604, 609, 705 P.2d 800 (1985) (upholding guarantor's waiver of surety defenses); *see also United States v. Everett Monte Cristo Hotel, Inc.*, 524 F.2d 127, 136 (9th Cir. 1975) (under Washington law, guarantor defenses may be "lost by consent or waiver").

The Deed of Trust Act did not create public policy to the contrary. "An agreement that has a tendency to be against the public good, or to be injurious to the public violates public policy." *Scott v. Cingular Wireless*, 160 Wn.2d 843, 851, 161 P.3d 1000 (2007). Harvey's waiver raises neither concern. The Act shows the legislature's intent to allow deficiency judgments against commercial guarantors. RCW 61.24.100(3)(c). And, even if section (10) is construed to curtail that right when the guaranty is secured by the borrower's deed of trust, what possible "public good" is injured when a sophisticated guarantor, to induce a multi-million dollar commercial loan, knowingly and expressly agrees to give the lender the same right to a deficiency judgment it would otherwise have against an unsecured guarantor under section (3)(c)? None, of course.

Review of this issue would also give this Court an opportunity to distinguish this case from *Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) and *Bain v. Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012)—neither of which addressed deficiency judgments, commercial loans, guaranties or the enforceability of express waivers executed by sophisticated parties like Harvey. Rather, both cases held that parties cannot contractually modify "statutory requirements" that a *trustee* must follow as a prerequisite to nonjudicial foreclosure. *Schroeder*, 177 Wn.2d at 106-07; *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 108. As noted in *Schroeder*, although one can ordinarily waive statutory "rights or privileges," that rule does not apply to these procedural requisites because they "are not ... rights held by the debtor; instead, they are limits on the trustee's power to foreclose without judicial supervision." *Id.*

These concerns are not implicated where, as here, the statutory prerequisites are followed, a valid trustee's sale is held, and the only interests that remain are the contractual rights of the lender and third-party guarantor. If RCW 61.24.100(10) did give the Harveys an anti-deficiency defense, contrary to the common law rule, then it is precisely the kind of

"rights-or-privileges-creating statute" that this Court recognized could be waived. *Schroeder*, 177 Wn.2d at 107. To be sure, a public policy designed to prevent overreaching lenders and trustees from forcing the machinery of nonjudicial foreclosure on homeowners and unsophisticated borrowers has no applicability in a commercial transaction—where, as here, a sophisticated guarantor's knowing and voluntary waiver is a fundamental element of the consideration underlying the transaction.

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